1967

Shirlee M. Housley and Reese C. Housley v. The Anaconda Company, A Corporation, and Dennis P. Cox and The Travelers Insurance Comp Any, A Corporation : Appellants' Brief

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for personal injuries and automobile damages arising out of a two-vehicle collision wherein plaintiffs have jointly sued The Anaconda Company and Dennis P. Cox, an employee of Ana-

conda, who was driving a company vehicle at the time it struck the vehicle of plaintiffs; and to proceed against Cox, who left the State of Utah shortly after the accident, by garnishment proceedings against an insurance policy with The Travelers Insurance Company as the liability insurer of both Anaconda and Cox.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Four different judges of the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County have made and entered various Orders in this matter involving—

- (a) A ruling that defendant Cox, who left the State of Utah shortly after the accident, had not made a general appearance in certain proceedings relating to plaintiffs' Motion to Amend their Complaint;
- (b) The quashing of service of summons in an in rem proceeding brought by serving defendant Cox in the State of Maryland, and the joining of The Travelers Insurance Company, as garnishee therein;
- (c) The granting of summary judgment in favor of defendant Anaconda Company.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek a reversal of the applicable Orders entered in this action establishing, in the alternative

as to Cox, either that defendant Cox made a general appearance in this matter or that the liability policy of insurance issued by The Travelers Insurance Company insuring both The Anaconda Company and Dennis P. Cox can be reached as a chose in action so that the lower court can proceed with the trial of this case in an in rem proceeding notwithstanding the absence of Cox from the State of Utah. As to The Anaconda Company, plaintiffs seek a reversal and setting aside of the Order granting summary judgment in favor of that defendant, and that the matter be sent back to the lower court for a trial on the merits of the action as to The Anaconda Company.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 5, 1959, in Salt Lake City, defendant Cox, while driving a motor vehicle owned by The Anaconda Company, and with its express permission (R. 133), drove into the rear of an automobile being driven by plaintiff Shirlee M. Housley, and owned by plaintiff Reese C. Housley (R. 1).

Plaintiff Shirlee M. Housley suffered severe back and neck injuries. Ruptured discs of the lower back have required fusion of that area of the spine and a further fusion is contemplated in the cervical spine. A female operation to prevent future childbirth has been performed as necessary treatment to prevent further aggravation of her spinal injuries (R. 18).

Her expenditures to date for hospitalization and medical expenses, therapeutic devices, drugs and medicines, and nursing care, are in excess of \$6,000.00. She is faced with partial permanent disability and continuing pain and suffering.

Within a few weeks after the accident defendant Cox departed the State of Utah and went to Brazil. Subsequently, he returned to the States, and now resides in Maryland.

Within eight months after the collision (R. 3) plaintiffs caused a Complaint to be filed, and service of summons was made upon The Anaconda Company. However, inasmuch as defendant Cox had left the State of Utah approximately six weeks after the accident (Exh. 2-P-#24), personal service could not be made upon Cox. On November 6, 1963, pursuant to a motion made by plaintiffs to file an Amended Complaint setting forth allegations justifying a proceeding against defendant Cox in an in rem count (R. 16-19), counsel for Cox appeared at the hearing (R. 165-168) and informed the court that he was appearing as Cox's attorney "... for the purpose of this amendment ...", and further informed the court that he wished to argue that plaintiffs "... cannot state a cause of action against Mr. Cox." Thereupon, after several hearings and the submission of briefs, Judge Joseph G. Jeppson ruled on May 19, 1964 that in rem jurisdiction could be had in Utah to try the matter against Cox by reaching the liability insurance policy insuring Cox, and that

the appearance in the matter by Cox, through his attorney, was not a general appearance “. . . since the aforesaid ruling of the court that in rem jurisdiction can be had herein is considered by the Court to be a special appearance.” (R. 61).

Notwithstanding the Order of Judge Jeppson, when personal service was actually made upon Cox in the State of Maryland reciting the in rem nature of the proceeding and other incidents of the relief sought, counsel for Cox again appeared, and after one unsuccessful attempt before Judge Aldon J. Anderson (R. 62-63), finally induced the latter, upon a re-hearing, to issue an Order quashing summons (R. 82) on July 7, 1964. The last Order was apparently based upon what counsel for Cox asserted to be constitutional objections under Section 7 of Article I of the Utah Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution in that Cox was being deprived “. . . of his property without due process of law . . . ”.

On December 13, 1965, a pre-trial hearing was had before Judge Stewart M. Hanson and a pre-trial Order was prepared setting the matter for trial as to defendant Anaconda Company (R. 131-133). Thereafter, and prior to trial date, defendant Anaconda Company, appearing through the same counsel who represented Cox, moved for Summary Judgment, supported by the Affidavit (R. 134) of defendant Cox, wherein the issue was raised as to whether Cox was

within the scope of employment of Anaconda Company at the time of the accident. The affidavit of Cox recited that at the time of the accident “. . . I was on my way home to have lunch with my wife.” He further stated that “I cannot now recall whether I was going to pick up equipment after lunch on the day of the accident.”

Based upon the record before the Court at the time, together with the Affidavit of Cox, Judge Merrill C. Faux entered an Order granting Summary Judgment in favor of Anaconda Company on March 16, 1966 (R. 160).

## ARGUMENT

This Appeal is taken and based upon the following points:

**I. IN REM JURISDICTION CAN BE HAD IN UTAH BY GARNISHMENT OF AN INSURANCE POLICY AS A CHOSE IN ACTION SO AS TO GIVE UTAH COURTS JURISDICTION TO PROCEED IN A PERSONAL INJURY ACTION WHERE THE DEFENDANT HAS DEPARTED THE STATE OF UTAH AFTER THE CAUSE OF ACTION AROSE.**

**II. THE DEFENDANT'S APPEARANCE BEFORE JUDGE JEPPSON ON NOV. 6, 1963, WAIVED HIS OBJECTION TO PERSONAL JURISDICTION.**

**III. THE ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANT**

ANACONDA COMPANY IS UNSUPPORTABLE UNDER THE FACTS AND THE RECORD BEFORE THE COURT.

### POINT I

IN REM JURISDICTION CAN BE HAD IN UTAH BY GARNISHMENT OF AN INSURANCE POLICY AS A CHOSE IN ACTION SO AS TO GIVE UTAH COURTS JURISDICTION TO PROCEED IN A PERSONAL INJURY ACTION WHERE THE DEFENDANT HAS DEPARTED THE STATE OF UTAH AFTER THE CAUSE OF ACTION AROSE.

The facts of this case concerning jurisdiction create a somewhat unusual situation—but one which undoubtedly will occur more and more frequently with the mobile population which faces the American future. At the time of the accident the defendant, Dennis P. Cox, was apparently a resident of the State of Utah. Shortly after the accident Mr. Cox left Utah for Brazil, making it difficult to obtain in personam jurisdiction.

This has created an anomalous and ironical situation since Utah's long arm statute, U.C.A. 1953, Sec. 41-12-8, has been held in *Teague v. District Court*, 4 Utah 2d 147, 289 P.2d 331, and *Brandon v. Teague*, 5 Utah 2d 214, 299 P. 2d 1113 (1956), to apply only to those persons who were nonresidents at the time of the injury. Thus, by leaving the State of Utah a resident can avoid jurisdiction over his person, whereas a nonresident is subject to substituted service.

Basically, what the plaintiff seeks to do in this case is to obtain in rem jurisdiction by garnishment of a chose in action belonging to the defendant. This action does not contemplate acquiring in personam jurisdiction over the defendant, nor does it contemplate any form of direct action against the liability insurer. The plaintiff merely intends to impose a lien upon a chose in action in the hands of a third party and to use such lien as a basis for in rem jurisdiction. Any recovery by the plaintiff will be limited to the value of the attached chose in action.

This procedure is authorized by U.C.A. 1953, Rule 64 D. Rule 64 D specifically provides for garnishment prior to judgment. Further, an attachment or garnishment with constructive service gives jurisdiction to proceed in the main action against property of the defendant. *Bristol v. Brent*, 35 Utah 213, 99 P. 1000.

The United States Supreme Court has sanctioned this procedure whereby constructive service can be used to obtain in rem jurisdiction, allowing the plaintiff to proceed in the main action against property of the defendant in the hands of a third party. *Chicago R.R. Co. v. Sturm*, 174 U. S. 710, 19 S. Ct. 797 (1899); *Harris v. Balk*, 198 U. S. 215, 25 S. Ct. 625 (1905). This procedure is not prohibited by *Pennoyer v. Neff*, 95 U. S. 714, 24 L. Ed. 565 (1877), since that case merely prohibits the use of constructive service in obtaining *in personam* jurisdiction.

The conflict on this point initially arose when the plaintiff filed a "Notice and Motion for Filing Amended Complaint" (R. 15-23). By this motion the plaintiff sought to amend the complaint to contain an in rem count against a chose in action belonging to the defendant, Cox, and being held by The Travelers Insurance Company. The defendant, Cox, made an appearance to object to this amendment (R. 165-169). Nevertheless, the plaintiffs' motion was granted by Judge Joseph G. Jeppson in the following language (R. 60-61):

**"NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED** that:

1. Defendant Dennis P. Cox has a chose in action under a liability insurance policy which can be reached by plaintiffs to acquire in rem jurisdiction in these proceedings, and plaintiffs' motion to amend their complaint accordingly is hereby granted and garnishment may issue as requested."

This final Order dated May 19, 1964, followed Judge Jeppson's Minute Entry dated December 5, 1963, which gave initial approval to the amendment and the in rem action (R. 121). In the interim, however, process was constructively served upon the defendant, Cox, in the State of Maryland (R. 27). Thus, in rem jurisdiction had been established prior to Judge Jeppson's final Order (R. 121).

Being unable to obtain a reversal from Judge Jeppson, defendant Cox, through his attorney, pre-

sented the matter to a different judge. In an Order, dated May 25, 1964, (R. 62-63), Judge Anderson denied defendant's motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint and to quash the service of summons, saying that the

“ . . . Order of Judge Jeppson had disposed of the legal and factual issues material to the Motion before the Court, and to grant the Motion to Dismiss to Quash Summons at this time would require a reversal of the prior Order in the matter involving the same matters of law and fact; . . . ”

Nevertheless, the persistent defendant obtained an “Order Granting Motion to Quash Summons” (R. 82) by a second appeal to Judge Anderson on July 7, 1964. By Judge Anderson's own language (R. 62-63) he thereby reversed the prior Order issued at the hand of Judge Jeppson.

In resolving this question, which has been framed by the respective judges and also in the interpretation of cited cases, it is crucial that the statutory language be closely consulted. This was made clear in 134 A.L.R. 853, 854 (1941), where the annotation reads:

“The remedy of garnishment or attachment is in derogation of the common law and exists only by virtue of statute. 4 Am. Jur. 555, Attachment and Garnishment, Sec. 8.

“There appears to be a garnishment act or statute, or an act or statute relating to a similar process, in practically every jurisdiction, though

in some states the statute does not specifically provide that to make an obligation not due or not payable, garnishable, its payment must not depend upon a contingency.

“However, it is laid down as a general rule by text writers that a debt which is contingent, and may never become due and payable, is not subject to garnishment, is stated in *Hanover F. Ins. Co. v. Connor* (1886) 20 Ill. App. 297.

“Sometimes and in some jurisdictions the statute has apparently permitted the garnishment of contingent obligations, and in that case, of course, the question under annotation does not arise.”

This same state of the law was expressed in 47 Marq. L. Rev. 221, 222 (1963).

“In the absence of statutes to the contrary, a debt which is uncertain and contingent, in the sense that it may never become due and payable, is not subject to garnishment. *Only a few states* have by statute provided for the garnishment of contingent interests.” (Emphasis added).

It is submitted that Utah is one of those states allowing garnishment of contingent interests. Cases not so allowing garnishment of contingent interests can be explained on the basis of the applicable state statute.

134 A.L.R. 853 (1941), discusses *Banionis v. Lake*, 289 Mass. 146, 193 N. E. 731 (1935), where an obligation under a settlement agreement to pay upon release was held contingent and not garnishable “(a) Under a statute making a debt subject to the trustee process

if its payment does not depend upon any contingency  
. . . .”

In *Gray v. Houck*, 68 S. W. 2d 117, 167 Tenn. 233 (1934), the Tennessee Supreme Court held against the plaintiff on facts similar to those in the case at bar. However, that decision was necessitated by the Code of Tennessee, 1932:

23-601 (9396)

*Grounds for Attachment* - Any person having a debt or demand due at the commencement of an action, or a plaintiff after action for any cause has been brought, and either before or after judgment, may sue out of an attachment at law or in equity, against the property of a debtor or defendant, in the following cases:

- (1) Where the debtor or defendant resides out of the state . . .

23-603 (9400)

*Debts not due* - An attachment may in like manner, be sued out upon debts or demands not due, in any cases mentioned in 23-601, *except the first; that is, when the debtor resides out of the state.* (Italics added).

23-701 (9428)

*Assets subject to garnishment.* - Where property, choses in action, or effects of the debtor are in the hands of third persons, or third persons are indebted to such debtor, the attachment may be by garnishment.

An analysis of the three quoted statutory provisions shows that garnishment proceedings are tied to

attachment proceedings, and that a limitation prohibited attachment or garnishment upon "*debts or demands not due . . . when the debtor or defendant resides out of the state.*"

60 A.L.R. 884, 885 (1929), discusses the garnishability of notes or accounts in the possession of a third party for collection. On this issue the courts split, but in referring to a decision holding that a note was not garnishable from a custodian the annotator said:

"The reason for the decision was that a mere custodian of choses in action who has received no money upon them is not liable to an attachment in execution, as he is in no sense a debtor to the defendant in the execution."

It is obvious that the applicable statute in that case did not allow attachment or garnishment of a chose in action.

However, the applicable Utah statute, U.C.A. 1953, Rule 64 D, *does* provide for the garnishment of a chose in action.

(a) *When plaintiff entitled to writ; affidavit—*

The plaintiff, at any time after the filing of the complaint, may have a writ of garnishment issue, and attach the credits, effects, debts, *choses in action*, money, and other personal property of the defendant in the possession or in the control of any third person, as garnishee, *whether the same are due at the time of the service of the writ or are to become due thereafter, . . .*" (Italics added).

The exact scope of this statute has not been delineated by this Court, but a comparison of the statutes of sister states will soon show that the Utah statute is indeed broad. The Utah statute expressly allows garnishment of a chose in action to become due after service of the writ.

That an insurance policy is a species of property in the nature of a chose in action, susceptible of ownership like any other chose in action, there can be no doubt. 29 Am. Jur., Insurance, Sec. 186; Black, Law Dictionary (3rd ed. 1933); *Thompson Heating Corp. v. Hardware Indemnity Ins. Co. of Minn.*, 72 Ohio App. 55, 50 N.E. 2d 671, 673; *Sheldon v. Sill*, 49 U.S. 441, 447, 12 L. Ed. 1147. The defendant has even so much as admitted this in his pleadings (R. 64, 71), where he erroneously cited *Pennoyer v. Neff* for the proposition "that a denial of his motion to dismiss and quash summons will deprive him of *his property* without due process of law." It was upon that motion that Judge Anderson acted in the quashing of summons (R. 82).

The case of *Acheson-Harder Co. v. Western Wholesale Notions Co.*, 72 Utah 323, 269 P. 1032, 60 A.L.R. 881 (1928), is appropriate to point out the significance of the allowance of garnishment of a *chose in action to become due after service of the writ*. In that case this Court held that accounts placed in the hands of the garnishee for collection, but not collected, could not be reached by the service of a writ of garnishment

upon the person having such accounts in his hands for collection. This Court held that the liability of the garnishee to account to the defendant for property or indebtedness must be absolute, in order that such property or indebtedness be garnishable. The then existing statute, Laws of Utah 1925, C. 106, required that the garnishee have

“property, money, goods, chattels, credits or effects in his, or its hands or under his or its control belonging to the defendant or defendants, or any or either of them, or that such person or persons, firm or corporation is indebted to the defendant; that the defendant is indebted to him or it on such contract, judgment or decree, *sued upon*, . . . ” (Emphasis added).

The present statute has obviously liberalized garnishment proceedings by adding *choses in action*, by including language to the effect that the asset need not be due, and by deleting the reference to such contract, judgment or decree *sued upon*. By definition alone, a chose in action does not mean absolute indebtedness. *Sheldon v. Sill, supra; United States v. J. T. Hubbell*, 323 F. 2d 197 (5th Cir. 1963).

Furthermore, the *Acheson Case* can be distinguished on the basis that the obligation was contingent *qua* contingent since the *garnishee himself* had an act to perform to determine his liability. In other words the garnishee could have effectively blocked the garnishment by not making the collection. In the case at bar all *facts* which would make the garnishee liable

have occurred; the garnishee himself cannot, by action or inaction, prevent his liability to the defendant.

At this point it should be made clear that the plaintiff is not engaged in a direct action against The Travelers Insurance Company. Such a procedure has not been permitted by Utah law. Rule 64 D merely permits the imposition of a garnishment lien as a basis for in rem jurisdiction whereby the plaintiff can proceed in the main action against property of the defendant.

This proceeding, in contrast to a direct action (personal), is not prohibited by the insurance contract between defendant and garnishee. The contract does contain a "no action" clause in the following words:

## CONDITIONS

### 13. Action Against Company—

No action shall lie *against the company* unless, as a condition precedent thereto, the insured shall have fully complied with all the terms of this policy, nor until the amount of the insured's obligation to pay shall have been finally determined either by judgment against the insured after actual trial or by written agreement of the insured, the claimant and the company. (Emphasis added).

This action is not "*against the company*" but rather against Cox, by reaching a liability insurance contract between him and the insurance company. This distinction was made clear by a prominent Utah defense attorney, Ray R. Christensen, *Direct Rights and Reme-*

*dies Against Liability Insurers*, 28 Utah Bar Bull. 155 (1958), where he said:

“Under the provisions of Rule 64 D, the writ of garnishment apparently will lie before judgment is obtained against the insured. However, it would serve a useful purpose only in rare cases such as suggested under paragraph A. above.”

The distinction between a tort claim and a contract claim is necessitated under Utah law. Plaintiffs are not attaching an unliquidated tort claim, which is the nature of the chose in action which *they* have; rather, they are proceeding against a contractual right which defendant Cox has against The Travelers Insurance Company to have the latter pay damages on his behalf arising out of the use of a motor vehicle.

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