1967

Shirlee M. Housley and Reese C. Housley v. The
Anaconda Company, A Corporation, and Dennis P.
Cox and The Travelers Insurance Comp Any, A
Corporation : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

COX HAS NOT WAIVED HIS OBJECTION TO
PERSONAL JURISDICTION.

Plaintiff's motion to file an amended complaint came on for hearing before Judge Jeppson on November 6, 1963. The amended complaint contained an additional count alleging in substance that Anaconda had a policy of liability insurance insuring itself and any person using an owned vehicle with the permission of the insured, all in accordance with the provisions of Section 41-12-21 (b) (2) Utah Code Annotated 1953 (Safety Responsibility Act). The amended complaint also contained the allegation:

“That, whether contained in said policy or not, by express provision of Section 41-12-21 (f) (1), Utah Code Annotated ‘the liability of the insurance carrier with respect to the insurance required by this act shall become absolute whenever injury or damage covered by said motor vehicle liability occurs. . . .’

The final allegation was that Cox had a “valuable chose in action against his employer and the employer's insurance carrier upon which in rem jurisdiction (could) be acquired.” (R 18, 19)

Cox's attorney made a special appearance to object to the motion to amend on the ground Cox did not have any property in the State of Utah which could be made the subject of an in rem action. (R 60)

The reporter's transcript of the hearing on the motion to amend shows the following proceedings were had:

THE COURT: This motion is to amend as to Mr. Cox, is it not?

MR. FULLER: Essentially as to Mr. Cox, your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any objection to that?

MR. NEBEKER: We would object to that—appearing especially for that purpose, yes.

THE COURT: What is your objection?

MR. NEBEKER: Our objections are, your Honor, the amendment relies apparently upon the financial responsibility, which we maintain does not apply, and we have produced an affidavit from Mr. Reece of that division stating that Mr. Cox was never required to obtain proof of financial responsibility.

THE COURT: You do not represent Mr. Cox?

MR. NEBEKER: We are appearing especially for that purpose, your Honor.

THE COURT: You do not represent Mr. Cox?

MR. NEBEKER: For the purpose of resisting this amendment, yes. No jurisdiction over Mr. Cox, that is the problem.

THE COURT: Are you Mr. Cox' attorney? You did not so state.

MR. NEBEKER: Yes, I would represent here we are representing him for the purpose of this amendment.

THE COURT: Do you want to argue he cannot state a cause of action against Mr. Cox?

MR. NEBEKER: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: I will hear the matter when we get to it.

The bulk of the argument of counsel was not reported.
(R 167)

On December 5, 1963, a minute entry was made stating Judge Jeppson's ruling:

"Court grants plaintiffs' motion to amend and orders that plaintiffs may plead in rem and issue garnishment requested. Court finds defendant did not make general appearance and did not waive his defense of no jurisdiction." (R 67)

At the hearing on Cox's motion to dismiss and to quash summons, a question arose concerning Judge Jeppson's prior ruling on the motion to amend. On May 19, 1964, Judge Jeppson signed the following order:

"Now, therefore, it is hereby ordered that:

1. Defendant Dennis P. Cox has a chose in action under a liability insurance policy which can be reached by plaintiffs to acquire in rem jurisdiction in these proceedings, and plaintiffs' motion to amend their complaint accordingly is hereby granted and garnishment may issue as requested.

2. Defendant Dennis P. Cox has made a special appearance herein challenging personal jurisdiction over his person, and that such appearance did not constitute a general appearance since the aforesaid ruling of the court that in rem jurisdiction can be had herein is considered by the court to be a special appearance." (R 60-61)

Judge Jeppson, after hearing all the argument by counsel, held that Cox's attorney had made a special appearance challenging jurisdiction over his person and had not made a general appearance.

Rule 12(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which was amended slightly from Rule 12(b) of the Federal Rules, has abolished the old distinction of special and general appearance. A defendant need no longer appear specially to attack the court's jurisdiction over him. There is no penalty if the attorney undertakes a "special appearance" though the label will be of no legal significance.

"There is no longer any necessity for appearing specially, as subdivision (b) provides that every defense may be made either in the responsive pleading or by motion. However, there is no penalty if the pleader, mindful of the old ways, undertakes a 'special appearance' though the label will be of no legal significance." Vol. 1A Barron & Holtzoff Rule 12 Sec. 343 p. 284.

In Orange Theatre Corporation v. Ray Hertz Amusement Corp. 139 F.2d 871 (3rd Cir. 1944) cert. den. 322 U.S. 740, 88 L.ed. 1573, 64 S.Ct. 1057, it was held that Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure has abolished the age old distinction between general and special

appearances. The court stated that under the Rule, a defendant need no longer appear specially to attack the Court's jurisdiction over him and is no longer required "at the door of the Federal Courthouse to intone that ancient abra cadabra of the law de bene esse, in order by its magic power to enable himself to remain outside even while he steps within." However, the court pointed out that under the rules if the defense of lack of jurisdiction of the person was not raised by Motion before Answer or in the Answer itself, it would be treated as waived, not because of the defendant's voluntary appearance but because of his failure to assert the defense within the time prescribed by the rules.

A number of State Courts have adopted Rules of Procedure based on the Federal Rules. The Supreme Courts in those jurisdictions have recognized that the distinction between general and special appearances has been abolished.

In *D. W. Onan & Sons v. Superior Court*, 179 P.2d 243 (Arizona 1947) the Supreme Court of Arizona held that under Rule 12 (b), Sec. 21-429 ACA 1939, that special appearances to challenge jurisdiction over the persons were not necessary. The court stated that if the defendant so desires, he may present *every* defense or objection that he has in an answer without waiving any rights. The court further stated:

"An objection that the court has not secured jurisdiction over the defendant may be pleaded in the answer. Often times a defendant might prefer to raise certain objections which he believes will

be sustained before resorting to the trouble of pleading an answer. This he may do. Under this Rule 12 (b) he may raise any or all of the following objections which he may have by motion: (1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter; (2) lack of jurisdiction over the person; (3) improper venue; (4) insufficiency of process; (5) insufficiency of service of process; (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted."

In *Treadwell v. The District Court in and for the City and County of Denver*, 297 P. 2d 891 (Colo. 1956) the Supreme Court of Colorado held that Rule 12 (b) abolishes the distinction between general and special appearances. The court stated that if a motion to quash for lack of jurisdiction of a person is made before the Answer, then the jurisdiction of the Court over the person is properly raised and stands in question until the Motion is disposed of.

"The rule (Rule 12 (b)) is almost identical with the federal rule of procedure and the federal cases seem to hold that a party may appear generally and still raise objections to jurisdiction of person. Such a motion, of course, must be filed in apt time, and the question cannot be raised after answers and other motions as to the merits have been filed. It cannot be contended that the written general appearance of counsel in the case is a defense; it cannot be considered as a pleading; and it neither adds to nor detracts from the motion to quash, which was the only plea before the court." (Italics ours)

See also *Weant's Admr. v. Ellis*, 287 S.W. 2d 446 (Ky. 1955); *Galler v. Sturzberg*, 92 A.2d 89 (N.J. 1952) holding

that Rule 12 (b) has eliminated the distinction between general and special appearances.

These cases clearly show that the distinction between general and special appearances has been abolished in those jurisdictions which have adopted rules similar to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

In the instant case Cox's attorney appeared to resist the proposed Amendment to plaintiff's complaint on the ground Cox had *no property in the State of Utah which could be made the subject of an in rem proceeding. The substance of the appearance was to resist jurisdiction over the person of Cox.* If Cox could file a motion to dismiss because of lack of jurisdiction over the person or could plead such a defense in his answer, then clearly, an appearance to raise the question of jurisdiction over the person before an answer or motion were required would not waive that defense. There would only be a waiver of jurisdiction over the person if Cox's attorney answered the amended complaint without raising the defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person. Rule 12 (h) provides that a party waives all defenses and objections which he does not present either by motion or in his answer, except the defense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, failure to join an indispensable party and whenever it appears the court lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter.

As the court stated in *Orange Theatre Corp. supra.*

"If the defense of lack of jurisdiction of the person is not raised by motion before answer or in the answer itself it is by the express terms of paragraph (h) of Civil Procedure Rule 12 to be treated

as waived, *not because of the defendant's voluntary appearance but because of his failure to assert the defense within the time prescribed by the rules.*" (Italics ours)

The appearance of Cox's attorney to resist the motion to amend the complaint did not give the court jurisdiction over the person of Cox. The Trial Judge who heard the arguments of counsel, held Cox *made a special appearance and did not waive his defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person.* (R 61) His ruling should be sustained.

POINT II.

COX HAS NO PROPERTY IN THE STATE OF UTAH WHICH CAN BE THE SUBJECT OF AN IN REM ACTION SO THE SUMMONS SERVED ON HIM IN BETHESDA, MARYLAND, WAS PROPERLY QUASHED.

Cox was served with a summons and amended complaint in Bethesda, Maryland. (R 27) A writ of garnishment was served on Travelers. It answered by denying that it was indebted to Cox in property or money and denying that it knew of or had any property, effects, goods, chattels, rights, credits or choses in action owing to Cox. Travelers admitted issuing a liability policy to Anaconda which insured persons using motor vehicles with the permission of the named insured. (R 43-47) *Plaintiffs never replied to the answer of the garnishee.* Subsequently, Cox filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint against him on the ground the court did not have jurisdiction over his person and to quash the summons. (R 33) The motion was

supported by an affidavit in which Cox stated he was a resident of the State of Utah at the time of the accident and shortly thereafter moved to South America. The motion to dismiss and to quash summons was heard by Judge Aldon Anderson. The Judge granted the motion to quash summons after the issues had been fully briefed and argued. (R 82, 127)

Defendants contend that the liability insurance policy issued by Travelers to Anaconda does not constitute a "choses in action" under Rule 64 (D) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which can be the subject of an in rem proceeding.

Rule 64 (D) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure contains the following provision relating to garnishment:

"When plaintiff entitled to writ; affidavit. The plaintiff, at any time after the filing of the complaint, may have a writ of garnishment issue, and attach the credits, effects, debts, choses in action, money, and other personal property of the defendant in the possession or in the control of any third person, as garnishee, whether the same are due at the time of the service of the writ or are to become due thereafter, under the same circumstances and by filing with the court in which the action is pending an affidavit as required by subdivision (a) of Rule 64C, relating to Attachments; provided, that in addition to the requirements of the Affidavit for a writ of attachment the affidavit for a writ of garnishment shall state that plaintiff has good reason to believe and does believe that a particular person, firm or corporation, private or public, has property, money, goods, chattels, credits or effects in his or its hands or under his or its control be-

longing to the defendant, or that such person, firm or corporation is indebted to the defendant.”

Subparagraph (g) and (i) of Rule 64D contain the following provisions:

(g) * * * The garnishee may also deliver to the officer serving the writ the property belonging to the defendant, together with the money due to such defendant, as shown by the answer of the garnishee, and the officer shall make return of such property and money with the writ to the court, to be dealt with as thereafter ordered by the court. Thereupon the garnishee shall be relieved from further liability in the proceedings, *unless his answer shall be successfully controverted as hereinafter provided.* (Italics ours)

* * *

(i) Judgment on Answer of Garnishee. *If the plaintiff fails to reply to the answer of the garnishee, he shall be deemed to have accepted it as correct, and judgment may be entered thereon.* * * * (Italics ours)

The plaintiffs did not reply to the garnishee's answer. They are therefore deemed to have accepted as correct Traveler's answer that it had no property, effects, goods, chattels, rights, credits or choses in action of Cox. Plaintiffs failure to reply precludes them from questioning the correctness of the answer.

Regardless of plaintiffs' failure to reply to the Answer, the liability insurance policy is not a chose in action. A "chose in action" is defined as "A right to personal

things of which the owner has not the possession, but merely a right of action for their possession." Blacks Law Dictionary 3rd Edition, p. 323.

The term has also been held to include the right to recover sums of money from another:

"The term "choses in action" is one of comprehensive import. It includes the infinite variety of contracts, covenants and promises which confer on one party a right to recover a personal chattel or a sum of money from another by action." Sheldon v. Sell 49 U.S. 441, 12 L.Ed. 1147 cited in Vol. 7 Words & Phrases, p. 167.

The language of the insurance policy issued by Travelers to Anaconda clearly shows that it does not constitute a "chose in action". The policy contains the following pertinent provisions:

"INSURING AGREEMENTS

1. Coverage A-Bodily Injury Liability

*To pay on behalf of the insured all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay as damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, including death at any time resulting therefrom, sustained by any person and caused by accident. * * * (Italics ours)*

CONDITIONS

13. Action Against Company. No action shall lie against the company unless, as a condition precedent thereto, the insured shall have fully complied with all the terms of this policy, nor until the amount

of the insured's obligation to pay shall have been finally determined either by judgment against the insured after actual trial or by written agreement of the insured, the claimant and the company."

Under the terms of the insurance policy Travelers has the obligation to pay on behalf of the insured (Cox) all sums which he shall *become legally obligated to pay as damages* because of bodily injury. *The insurance company has no obligation to pay on behalf of the insured until he becomes legally obligated to pay.* Since Cox is not legally obligated to pay the plaintiffs any sum of money, Travelers has no monetary obligation owing on his behalf. The contract of insurance is conditioned on the insured becoming *legally obligated to pay.* If there is no obligation on the insured to pay, there is no obligation on the insurance company. Unless a judgment is entered against Cox, Travelers will have no obligation to pay any money on his behalf.

The language of the paragraph relating to actions against the Company specifically provides that no action shall lie against the Company until its obligation to pay *shall have been finally determined either by judgment against the insured after actual trial or by written agreement of the insured, the claimant and the company.* It is clear from this language that there is no monetary obligation owing on behalf of Cox until a judgment has been entered against him, after actual trial, or a written agreement has been entered into between Cox, the plaintiffs and the Travelers Insurance Company.

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